IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2015-CP-18-00991

---

RECEIVED  
MAR 25 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-002199

---

Faye P. Croft, Personally and as Trustee of the James A. Croft Trust; James A. Croft Trust; William A. Harbeson; Heyward G. Hutson; James Stephen Greene, Jr.; South Carolina Public Interest Foundation; Summerville Preservation Society; and Dorchester County Taxpayers Association, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Appellants,

v.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Circuit Court err by soliciting, receiving, admitting, considering and relying on evidence added to the BAR record by the BAR after the Appellants appealed the April 6, 2015 and May 11, 2015 BAR decisions to the Circuit Court, at a time when the BAR lacked jurisdiction to do so?

II. Did the Circuit Court err either by not finding the decisions of the BAR appealed to the Circuit Court to be incorrect, or correct without accepting “additional evidence,” or by not remanding those decisions to the BAR for a “rehearing” as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930(A)?

III. Did the Court err by affirming BAR decisions when the BAR had failed to adopt, develop and comply with procedures and criteria required by law to have been adopted, developed and followed when the BAR made the decisions being appealed?

IV. Did the Court err by affirming BAR decisions when facts on the BAR record fail to adequately support the decisions of the BAR and the BAR failed to show how facts that are on the BAR record comply with the criteria for BAR approval?

V. Did the Court err by affirming BAR decisions when the BAR transacted BAR business at secret meetings held deliberately without a quorum, proper prior public notice, public attendance or participation; and without keeping and publishing immediately minutes and records to the public, all in violation of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act and other laws?

VI. Did the Court err by affirming BAR decisions when the BAR wrongfully issued a certificate of appropriateness based on numerous applications that were unqualified, and wrongfully failed to accept and consider public objections that the BAR applications were unqualified?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 5, 2015 the Appellants filed a Petition, 2015-CP-18-877, with the Circuit Court as authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900 *et seq.* and Summerville, S.C. Code of Ordinances (“Town Ordinance”), Sec. 32-181(c)(7) and Sec 32-182(f), to appeal decisions made by the Town of Summerville Board of Architectural Review (“BAR”) on April 6, 2015. On May 22, 2015, the Appellants filed with the Circuit Court a second Petition,

2015-CP-18-991, to appeal decisions made by the BAR on May 11, 2015. These appeals have been consolidated into this one action. (**Consent Order for Consolidation of Cases, September 4, 2014**). The respondents filed responses to this appeal, defending the BAR's actions, on August 11, 2015.

The decision of the BAR on April 6, 2015 was to grant "final approval of [the Hotel] project with [five] conditions." (**Minutes BAR Meeting 4/6/15, at 2-3**). The decisions of the BAR on May 11, 2015 were to grant "final approval [of the Hotel project] based on the conditional final requirements being satisfactorily answered" (**Minutes BAR Meeting 5/11/15, at 2**) and to issue the BAR's Certificate of Appropriateness dated May 11, 2015 which states in part the following:

**“Work Approved:** Final approval given for the mixed use development consisting of hotel, restaurant, with roof top bar, condos, conference center and parking garage. Final approval includes demolition (as approved on January 12, 2015 by the BAR pending final approval of the submitted project) of structures at 208 S. Cedar Street, 213 W. 2<sup>nd</sup> South Street, 200, 206 and 210 W. Richardson Avenue.” (**Certificate of Appropriateness May 11, 2015** (emphasis added)).

At BAR meetings on June 1, July 6 and August 3, 2015, the BAR responded to these appeals by creating a purported new "decision" and new "findings and conclusions." (**Minutes BAR Meetings 6/1/15, 7/6/15, 8/3/15**). This purported new decision and accompanying findings and conclusions were adopted by the BAR on August 3, 2015, in a new seventeen page document entitled "Decision of the Town of Summerville Board of Architectural Review, Including Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" ("BAR Findings" or "Findings and Conclusions") (**Minutes BAR Meeting 8/3/15**). On August 5, 2015 the BAR submitted to the Circuit Court as the purported record of the appeal both the documents and recordings that existed on May 11, 2015, the last date of the BAR

decisions being appealed, and the seventeen pages of BAR Findings adopted by the BAR at its August 3, 2015 meeting.

On August 14, 2015, a hearing was held before the Circuit Court regarding the Appellants' appeals of the BAR's April 6 and May 11, 2015 decisions. At the August 14, 2015 hearing the Circuit Court Judge requested *sua sponte* that the BAR supplement the record of May 11, 2015, with "minutes," but not with the recordings or the agenda, "of the BAR meetings of June, July and August of 2015, wherein the BAR Order was discussed and ultimately approved." (Order Circuit Court 9/24/15, at 4; **accord, Transcript Circuit Court Hearing 8/14/15, at 31-33**). The BAR provided the Court these June 1, July 6 and August 3, 2015 minutes which it considered, along with the Bar Findings adopted by the BAR on August 3, 2015, as part of the record when the Circuit Court rendered its decision.

On September 24, 2015, the Circuit Court issued an Order, filed on October 23, 2015, affirming the decisions of the BAR on April 6, May 11 and August 3, 2015. (**Order Circuit Court 9/24/15, at 1, 7**). On October 22, 2015 Appellants filed and served a Notice of Appeal of the Circuit Court's decision as authorized by SC Code Ann. § 6-29-940.

### **FACTS**

On November 10, 2013, the Town of Summerville ("Town") published a Request for Proposal for the design and construction of a hotel, restaurant, bar, garage, convention center and condominiums in Summerville, South Carolina ("Hotel project") in the Historic District of the Town. On December 18, 2013 the Town awarded the Hotel project to Applegate & Co. ("Developer"). (**Minutes, Special Summerville Town Council Meeting 12/18/13**).

On May 28, 2014 the Town created the Town of Summerville Redevelopment Corporation (“RDC”), pursuant to the Community Development Law, S.C. Code Ann. § 31-10-10 *et. seq.*

On July 9, 2014, the Town, the RDC and the Developer signed a Public-Private Partnership Agreement Between [*sic*] Town of Summerville, Town of Summerville Redevelopment Corporation and Applegate & Co. (“PPP Agreement”) regarding the building of the Hotel project. (**Order Circuit Court 9/24/15, at 1-2**).

On December 19, 2014 the Appellants in this action, and others, filed a lawsuit, currently captioned Faye P. Croft, et al., vs. Town of Summerville, et al., Civil Action No.: 2015-CP-10- 00713 (“Croft Lawsuit”), alleging, *inter alia*, numerous violations of law by the Town, the BAR and the RDC, including misuse of public funds and violations of law by the BAR that are alleged in this appeal. (Id.; **Respondents’ Memorandum In Opposition to Petitions for Appeal, August 11, 2015, at 1-2**). The allegations stated in the Croft Lawsuit relevant to this appeal include that the Hotel project is unlawful and therefore the BAR should not review applications for the Hotel project because:

(1) The PPP Agreement on which the Hotel project is based is unlawful and *ultra vires*;

(2) The developer applicant for BAR approval failed to comply with the contractual requirement in the PPP Agreement that “[p]rior to submission for review and approval to [the BAR] for permitting or [*sic*] certificate of appropriateness, DEVELOPER will submit a final design . . . to the RDC for review and approval” (emphasis added);

(3) The Hotel project is based on an unlawful RFP and RFP award by the Town;

(4) The Hotel project was not created by the RDC as a “redevelopment project” pursuant to a “redevelopment plan,” in

violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 31-10-20(15),(16) and S.C. Code Ann. § 31-10-100(b),(c); and

(5) The Hotel project was not submitted by the RDC for prior approval to the Town, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 31-10-100(e),(f). (E.g., Croft Lawsuit, §§ 2, 160, 164, 197, 199, 207, 208, 226B6, 226B7, 226B10-16, 226C, 226E, 226F, 264)..

### **Board of Architectural Review Actions**

#### 1. September 8, 2014 BAR Meeting

At an unknown date the Developer and the Town, but not the RDC,<sup>1</sup> filed an Application (“Application”) seeking BAR approval at a BAR meeting to be held on September 8, 2014, of “The Dorchester mixed-use development to include conference center, +/- 187 space parking deck, +/- 61 room hotel, +/- 36 condominiums, and demolition of existing structures” at “200, 206, & 210 West Richardson Ave. and 208 South Cedar St.” (**Application, undated, for 9/8/14 BAR Meeting**). This Application does not request “conceptual” or “preliminary” approval and is undated. (**Id.**). No record exists showing when this Application was filed, with whom it was filed and what, if anything, was attached to the Application for the BAR to consider. (**Id.**). There is no evidence the BAR’s Secretary received complete applications from all required parties at least fourteen days before, or that the Town’s planning department received complete applications at least ten days before, the next regularly scheduled BAR meeting, as required by Town Ordinances, Sec. 32-176(i), 32-181(c)(6). The Developer and the Town “certif[ied] that all information required is included and the application is complete” even

---

<sup>1</sup> The RDC should have been an applicant for a certificate of appropriateness since the RDC was an “owner” of the Hotel project, as a co-signer of the PPPA authorizing the Hotel project as a “redevelopment project” as defined by S.C. Ann. § 31-10-20(16). See Town Ordinance, Sec. 32-181(c)(1); pp. 14, 30-32, 43, 61 infra. At no time did the RDC file an application for consideration by the BAR regarding the Hotel project.

though, according to the BAR record, nothing was attached to this one-page Application. (Id.). Therefore, this Application violated Town Ordinance, Sec. 32-176(i)'s requirement that "[c]omplete applications must be received by the town's planning department at least ten days prior to the regularly scheduled meeting and shall include items listed on the current checklist." (Id.). That Application should not have been submitted or accepted without it "includ[ing] items listed on the current checklist." (Id.). Members of the public were not permitted to inspect or copy this Application prior to the September 8, 2014 meeting.<sup>2</sup>

There is no evidence on the BAR record that any action was taken on this Application at the BAR's September 8, 2014 meeting. Therefore the Court should find the BAR failed to take action on this Application at the BAR's "next regularly scheduled meeting following receipt of the application," in violation of Town Ordinance, Sec. 32-181(c)(6).<sup>3</sup> What exactly the BAR did at its September 8, 2014 meeting regarding this Application is unknown to Appellants because the minutes, recording and transcript of the recording of this September 8, 2014 BAR meeting were not submitted by the BAR as part of the BAR record to be considered by the Circuit Court, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-920(A).<sup>4</sup> However, minutes for this September 8, 2014 BAR meeting exist, as shown by the fact they were approved at the October 6, 2014 meeting of the BAR that was submitted to the Circuit Court by the BAR. (**Minutes BAR Meeting 10/6/14**). That a recording and a transcript of the recording of the September 8, 2014 BAR meeting exist is evidenced by the fact that the BAR filed with the Court recordings and a transcript of

---

<sup>2</sup> See pp. 55-56 *infra*.

<sup>3</sup> See pp. 32-33 *infra*.

<sup>4</sup> "[T]he [BAR] must file with the clerk a duly certified copy of the proceedings held before the [BAR] including a transcript of the evidence heard before the [BAR], if any . . . ." Id.

recordings of all other meetings for which the BAR filed minutes of BAR meetings that considered the Hotel project.

2. October 6, 2014 BAR Meeting

At an unknown date the Gayle F. E. Cates Revocable Trust filed an Application seeking approval, at a BAR meeting to be held on October 6, 2014, of the following:

The demolition of the existing structures located on the parcel of property located at 206 and 208 West Richardson Ave. in conjunction with the multi-use development known as The Dorchester planned by Applegate & CO. Demolition is conditioned on final approval of the development by the BAR and closing on the contract to purchase the property. (**Application Gayle F. E. Cates Revocable Trust, undated, for 10/6/14 BAR Meeting**)(“**Application Gayle F. E. Cates Revocable Trust**”)(emphasis added).

Similarly, at an unknown date the Faith Partnership filed an Application seeking approval at a BAR meeting to be held on October 6, 2014 of the following:

“The demolition of the existing structure located on the parcel of property located at the corner of South Cedar Street and West Richardson Ave. in conjunction with the multi-use development known as The Dorchester planned by Applegate & CO. Demolition is conditioned on final approval of the development by the BAR and closing on the contract to purchase the property.”  
(**Application Faith Partnership, undated, for 10/6/14 BAR Meeting**) (“**Application Faith Partnership**”)(emphasis added).

Similarly, at an unknown date Anne Gaither filed an Application seeking approval, at a BAR meeting to be held on October 6, 2014, of the following:

“The demolition of the existing structure located on the parcel of property located at 213 W. 2<sup>nd</sup> Street South in conjunction with the multi-use development known as The Dorchester planned by Applegate & CO. Demolition is conditioned on final approval of the development by the BAR and closing on the contract to purchase the property.” (**Application Anne Gaithers, undated, for 10/6/14 BAR Meeting**) (“**Application Anne Gaithers**”)(emphasis added).

Only these three Applications were to be considered at the BAR's October 6, 2014 meeting. None of these Applications request "conceptual" or "preliminary" approval and all of the Applications are undated. (**Application Gayle F. E. Cates Revocable Trust; Application Faith Partnership; Application Anne Gaithers**). No record exists showing when each of these Applications was filed, with whom each was filed and what, if anything, was attached to each Application for the BAR to consider. Members of the public were not permitted to inspect or copy any of these Applications prior to the October 6, 2014 meeting.<sup>5</sup>

The Agenda for this October 6, 2014 BAR meeting does not list any of these three Applications to be considered at this October 6, 2014 BAR meeting; does not reference demolition of property at 213 W. 2<sup>nd</sup> Street South, 208 West Richardson Ave. or at the corner of South Cedar Street or West Richardson Avenue; does not reference the Application filed for the September 8, 2014 BAR meeting; and does not state what or whose Application(s) will be considered at the October 6, 2014 BAR meeting. Rather, the Agenda states in pertinent part only the following:

**"208 S. Cedar Street, 200, 206 and 210 W. Richardson Avenue – Mixed Use Development consisting of 65 room hotel, restaurant with roof top bar, 34-36 unit condos, conference center and 157 space parking garage. (B-3)" (Agenda BAR Meeting 10/6/14).**

The Agenda for this October 6, 2014 BAR meeting does not include any reference to "conceptual" or "preliminary" approval of any of these three BAR Applications or of the BAR Application submitted for the BAR's September 8, 2014 meeting. (**Agenda BAR Meeting 10/6/14**).

---

<sup>5</sup> See pp. 55-56 infra.

Despite the failure of any of these Applications for the BAR's September 8 or October 6, 2014, BAR meetings to appear on the Agenda for the October 6, 2014 BAR meeting and the absence of any law or rule of any kind mentioning "conceptual" or "preliminary" approvals by the BAR, the BAR Chairman made the following *ad hoc* verbal statements at the BAR's October 6, 2014 meeting:

"As with any other project, the applicant has the opportunity to present a conceptual or master plan for our review prior to committing funds for a full set of design plans and specifications. This means that we might agree with the concept while disagreeing with some of the details. It also means that each phase of the project must be submitted at a later date for approval; that they will be more developed at that point; and the individual portions of the project and any disagreements will have been worked out before the applicant comes back to the Board.

Demolition is also considered as a separate action by the Board, and while conceptual approval may be contingent on some demolition, it doesn't mean that demolition concerns are overlooked." (**Transcript BAR Meeting 10.6.14 at 2-3**) (emphasis added).

Moreover, during this October 6, 2014 meeting the Developer told the BAR that "we're here on a conceptual basis" and that its Application being considered at that meeting "is not a final product." (**Transcript BAR Meeting 10/6/14, at 30**).

In addition, the BAR Findings retroactively adopted by the BAR on August 3, 2015 state that the purpose of the BAR's October 6, 2014 meeting was to:

[C]onsider the applications of Goff D'Antonio Architects and Applegate & Co. for conceptual approval to demolish structures located on the above-referenced real properties and to build a mixed use development . . . ." (**BAR Findings § 1**) (emphasis added).

There were no real properties referenced above this statement in the BAR Findings; the BAR Findings do not state what or whose Application or Applications were considered at the October 6, 2014 BAR meeting and what, if anything, was

attached to any Application or Applications considered; and no BAR Application before the BAR at its October 6, 2014 meeting had requested “conceptual” approval.

At the beginning of the October 6, 2014 meeting the BAR Chairman stated verbally ad hoc rules limiting public comment about the BAR Applications being considered by the BAR, as follows:

If your sole purpose for being here is to argue either for or against this hotel, you have my permission to get up and leave now because you will not be allowed to speak. And as soon as I or one of the other board members realizes that is what you’re doing, we will ask you to sit down. That discussion needs to be taken up with the Town Council or someone else, not the Board of Architectural Review. . . . If someone before you has made your point, please limit your comments to stating that you agree with them. Rehashing the same points over and over will not enhance your position and, in fact, might damage it. . . . Again, I must stress that if you are here to argue either for or against building the hotel, you are at the wrong meeting and will not be allowed to speak. (**Transcript BAR Meeting 10/6/14, at 2**).

Also the BAR Chairman verbally announced additional rules limiting public input to the BAR. (**Transcript BAR Meeting 10/6/14 at 49-50; BAR Findings § 5**). At the end of this October 6, 2014 meeting the BAR Chairman announced that no decision would be made at that meeting and “requested that the architect take comments under consideration and come back for conceptual approval with a re-design.” (**Minutes BAR Meeting 10/6/14, at 3**)(emphasis added).

### 3. November 3, 2014 BAR Meeting

The Agenda for this November 3, 2014 BAR meeting does not mention any of the three above-referenced BAR Applications filed with the BAR to be considered at the October 6, 2014 BAR meeting; does not mention the BAR Application filed for the September 8, 2014 BAR meeting; does not state what or whose BAR Application will be

considered at the November 3, 2014 BAR meeting; does not identify what, if anything, was attached to any Application as a submission to be considered by the BAR; and does not reference considering property at 213 W. 2<sup>nd</sup> Street South, 208 West Richardson Ave. or at the corner of South Cedar Street or West Richardson Ave. as stated in the three above-referenced BAR Applications for consideration at the October 6, 2015 BAR meeting. Rather, the Agenda states in pertinent part only the following, which is different than what is stated on all the above-referenced BAR Applications:

**208 S. Cedar Street, 200, 206 and 210 W. Richardson Avenue – Conceptual Mixed Use Development consisting of 65 room hotel, restaurant with roof top bar, 34-36 unit condos, conference center and 157 space parking garage. (B-3). (Agenda BAR Meeting 11/3/14).**

This Agenda published by the BAR for its November 3, 2014 BAR meeting is identical to the Agenda published by the BAR for its October 6, 2014 meeting, except the word “Conceptual” was added, for unknown reasons, in the Agenda for the BAR’s November 3, 2104 meeting. This Agenda does not reference demolition of structures. **(Agenda BAR Meeting 11/3/16).**

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