IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

JAN 09 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2015-002199

Faye P. Croft, Personally and as Trustee of the James A. Croft Trust; James A. Croft Trust; William A. Harbeson; Heyward G. Hutson; James Stephen Greene, Jr., South Carolina Public Interest Foundation; Summerville Preservation Society; and Dorchester County Taxpayers Association, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated.....Appellants,

v.

Town of Summerville and Town of Summerville Board of Architectural Review.....Respondents.

---

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

2. Timely, Completed Application (Response to Appellants' III, B).

The Appellant argues the BAR did not receive completed applications and suggests a rule requiring all applications be signed by all persons who may have interests in the application. First, Appellant's primary argument is, because the receipt dates are not stamped and the attachments to the application are not date-stamped, "there is no evidence on the BAR record that any of these Applications were submitted . . . within fourteen days and ten days as required by Town Ordinance" (Appellants' brief, p. 25). Of course, it is Appellants' duty to show there was some error. There is no evidence the applications were not submitted in a timely fashion.

The appellants also use this section to claim the application needed to be signed

by all persons having any legal or beneficial interest in the project. Appellants claim an application signed by the developer is not sufficient. Yet, there is no rule or statute that requires all persons having a legal or beneficial interest in the project must sign the application. In fact, the rule specifically states the application can be signed by the owner or agent of the property. There is no evidence or even an after-the-fact suggestion the developer lacked the authority to submit the application on behalf of the various property owners on whose property the project would eventually be built.

3. Next Regularly Scheduled Meeting (Response to Appellants' III, C).

The Appellants then take the position the BAR was required to hear the matter "at its next regularly scheduled meeting." It submits in this section that, because BAR applications are not marked with "individual identifiers such as number or dates," it is "confusing and uncertain" whether "specific applications were ever considered or acted on". Again, it is Appellants' duty to show error. The Appellant is merely speculating as to when applications were submitted. A footnote states there is no evidence the individual applications for demolition were acted upon, yet the Board did decide to allow demolition of certain structures in poor condition. (BAR Hearing, \_\_\_\_). What Appellants are attempting to say is that because the Board failed to refer to the application by the specific name on the application, there was potentially no decision on the application. There is no doubt about what the Board decided.

4. Deferral of Application (Response to Appellants' III, D).

Appellants take the position that the BAR is only empowered to defer a decision if it decides the application is "incomplete or [if] unanswerable questions arise," and claim it was error for the BAR to defer the decision in October and November 2014. During those meetings the Board made comments and suggestions to the developer

and asked the developer to consider changes.

First, this presumably would have to have been raised by an appeal of the October and November 2014 decisions. Those decisions were not appealed. Second, the argument is based on the erroneous position that incomplete applications and unanswered questions are the only grounds for a deferral. Respectfully, even if “unanswered questions” were the only grounds for a deferral, the phrase is broad enough to encompass the Board’s concern that a project is not compatible unless certain design changes are considered. The “unanswered question” is whether the applicant is willing to submit a design change which will meet the Board’s concerns.

5. 180 Days (Response to Appellants’ III, E).

The Appellants claim there was a violation of a 180 day rule. Ordinance 32-182(c). The rule, which relates to the demolition of a structure, actually provides a route for the BAR to delay a demolition for 180 days (and even for an additional 180 days for a structure of extreme historical important) to ascertain whether a historic structure can be preserved. First, this is a rule that gives the Board time to see if there are alternatives to save a historic structure while simultaneously trying to place a reasonable timeline on such efforts. This is not a rule where there is an automatic denial of an application after 180 days. That is not expressed anywhere in the Ordinance. In fact, the ordinance specifies that if the postponement has elapsed and the board has been unable to determine an adequate alternative to demolition, the certificate of appropriateness may be granted.

Appellants then argue that on top of the automatic denial, the application cannot be resubmitted for 180 days in order to address the argument that each modification could be construed as a new application. (A common rule is that the same application

cannot be submitted for 6 months which has been denied, although this rule does not apply to an application which is a change from the prior application). In making this argument, plaintiffs attempt to take a rule designed to give the Town and BAR a bit of additional time investigate alternatives to demolition of a historic structure into a Kafkaesque rule whereby the Board's failure to act in 180 days then blocks the developer from re-submitting for another 180 days.

6. Each and Every Property, Separate Applications, Separate Decisions (Response to Appellants' III, F).

The Appellants take the position that this project, which would span over several TMS numbers (which would later be reconfigured and title vested solely in the hands of the developer and the Summerville Redevelopment Authority), must therefore involve separate decisions, separate hearings and separate certificates of appropriateness. There is nothing in the Ordinances which states this. Furthermore, it is absolutely counter to normal and good planning principles. If a project is going to be built over separate parcels, it is generally wise to consider the whole project. It is nonsensical to have separate hearings and decisions as to each parcel.

**C. The BAR Did Not Violate FOIA (Response to Appellants' V).**

1. Alleged Secret Meetings.

The Appellants allege there were secret meetings of the BAR to make decisions on this project. This is clearly false. The Circuit Court dealt with this issue, finding there was no evidence in the record to support this decision. (Circuit Court Order, R. \_\_\_).

The Respondents have admitted there was a gathering of less than quorum to look at the project with the developer. (Respondent's Memorandum in Opposition to Petitions for Apepal, Aug. 22, 2015 p. 9, R. \_\_\_). However, this was not a "meeting" under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act. Under the Act, a "meeting" is defined as

“the convening of a quorum of the constituent membership of a public body, whether corporal or by means of electronic equipment, to discuss or act upon a matter over which the public body has supervision, control, jurisdiction, or advisory power”. S.C. Code § 30-4-20.

Such “meetings” must be properly announced and open to the public. S.C. Code § 30-4-60. However, when less than a quorum meets, there is no requirement for a public meeting. The Appellants cite S.C. Code § 30-4-70(c) which prohibits “chance meeting, social meeting, or electronic communication to circumvent the spirit of (sic) requirements of this chapter. . . .” However, this is designed to prohibit a majority of City Council or some other public body from claiming to have met by chance or at a social party.

There has never been and likely will never be a prohibition on two or three members of a public body (so long as that is less than a quorum) meeting to discuss a matter within their jurisdiction and control. It is extremely common and in fact required for good governance that a City Council member or two or three members with common interests may need to meet to discuss an issue which is presented, or that two or more members of a Public Service District or commission or Board may need to meet with staff to discuss to discuss an issue. Appellants’ version of the Freedom of Information Act would effectively mean two members of a public body could never talk about any issues except in a public meeting.

There is no evidence a quorum of the BAR ever met to discuss this matter in a non-public meeting. Furthermore, there is no evidence any decisions were made except by a quorum in a public meeting. No decisions could have been made by less than a quorum of members.

Numerous other jurisdictions throughout the country hold that informal meetings of groups of less than a quorum do not violate FOIA or open meetings requirements. See, e.g., City of Gary v. McCrady, 851 N.E.2d 359 (Ind. Ct. App. 2006) (“The legislature has specifically defined ‘meeting’ under the Open Door Law as requiring a majority of the governing body; thus, without a majority present, no meeting occurs for purposes of the Open Door Law.”); Hispanic Educ. Comm. v. Houston Indep. Sch. Dist., 866 F. Supp. 606 (S.D. Tex. 1995) (school district board of trustees, meeting in numbers less than quorum, did not violate Open Meetings Act; “limiting board members’ ability to discuss school district issues with one another outside formal meetings would seriously impede the board’s ability to function,” reasoning that “with fewer than a quorum present, nothing can be formally decided; without a formal decision, no act is taken. Without action, there is no illegality”); Moberg v. Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 281, 336 N.W.2d 510 (Minn. 1983) (“it is important that the rule not be so restrictive as to lose the public benefit of personal discussion between public officials”); Britt v. County of Niagara, 82 AD.2d 65 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1981) (the statutory requirement of a quorum is paramount; where no quorum was present at the meetings, there was no violation of the law).

The Appellants’ reliance on Quality Towing, Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach, 345 S.C. 156, 547 S.E.2s 862 (2001) is misplaced. In that case, an advisory committee was formed. The entire advisory committee met in secret and made decisions and recommendations. The Court determined the advisory committee was a “public body” and, therefore, its meetings were subject to FOIA. This is an entirely different question from the issue of whether less than a quorum of a public body can meet (with or without a third party) to discuss important matters within their jurisdiction.

2. Opportunity to Comment.

The Appellants allege the Town failed to comply with its demolition rules by publishing a meeting notice in the newspaper without expressly stating "the public would have an opportunity to comment" and letters did not specifically note persons could comment. Not only is this reasonably inferable from a public meeting notice, it is also clear that the BAR did allow public comment, and no person established on the record they attended but failed to understand they could comment. Finally, this is an entirely new issue not raised to the Circuit Court.

3. Withholding of Applications, Project Designs.

The Appellants maintain they were denied access to the applications. This is incorrect. All applications are available to anyone willing to come to the office in person. The Appellants make the assertion they were denied access, but the record and the citations to the record do not support their position.

4. Claims of Refusing to Allow Persons to Speak.

Again, the record here does not support the Appellants' claims. They cite a letter from Peter Gorman offering his interpretation of what happened. But if the January 5, 2015 transcript is reviewed, the BAR chairman did not stop anyone from speaking and did not even prevent persons from discussing matters which were entirely outside the jurisdiction of the BAR. The Chairman did request persons limit their remarks to the issues the BAR had jurisdiction to decide (aesthetics, not the legality of the contract) and requested the persons not repeat one another and limit their remarks to three minutes. This is not improper and is not a violation of the Freedom of Information Act or any other law. This is customary at across the state at various BAR meetings, BZA

meetings, and meetings of other Boards and Commissions. There is no requirement that every person who wishes to speak against the project be collectively or individually given the same amount of time as the applicant to outline their position.

**D. The BAR Did Not Err in Refusing to Consider Arguments that the Developer's Contract to Build the Project Was Invalid.**

The agreement between the Town, Summerville Redevelopment Corporation, and the developer to build this project is the Public Private Partnership Agreement, or PPPA. The Appellants have filed a separate suit attempting to void the PPPA as an ultra vires contract. (Croft v. Town of Summerville, R. \_\_\_) They also simultaneously allege the BAR was in error for failing to address issues of the PPPA including the Appellants' argument that the agreement was improperly entered into and ultra vires. The Appellants also allege the Board should have considered issues of compliance with the agreement. They state the Board should also have considered the qualification of the applicant without explaining as to what "qualifications" issues they believe the Board was to address.

The Appellants arguments as to the PPPA and the qualifications of the developer are without merit. A board of architectural review is meant to address the issue of the aesthetics of a new building and the appropriateness of demolition of existing structures. It is not the role of a board of architectural review to consider the legalities of whether the developer has a proper contract and whether there has been compliance or non-compliance with the private contract.

There are typically a variety of business relationships underlying any given development project---from lenders, to construction firms, architects, business partners, property owners, and joint venturers. It is certainly not the role of a board of architectural review to attempt to determine the legalities of all of those relationships, even in the

face of some dispute. A Board of Architectural Review is not qualified to decide whether a contract was properly bid, or whether a party to a contract is properly bound. These Appellants have filed an action to declare the contract invalid and ultra vires with the Circuit Court. The Summerville BAR is not the proper place to decide those issues.

Nor is it the place of the BAR to decide the applicant or developer is "unqualified" to build the project. This is a matter which is entirely up to the parties to the underlying development, whether public or private.

Appellants also use this section to repeat their argument that each owner of the project had to sign the application. This is addressed above at pp. \_\_\_\_ of Respondents brief.

### **III. THE APPEAL IS FATALY DEFECTIVE AS A RESULT OF FAILING TO NAME THE PERMITEE APPLICANT.**

In the present case, the appellants made a decision to name only the Town of Summerville and the Summerville Board of Architectural Review as a party to the appeal. The appellants did not name Applegate and Company as a party to this appeal. It is impossible to conclude Applegate and Company is not a permittee applicant. In Spanish Wells Property Owners Ass'n v. Bd. of Adjustment of the Town of Hilton Head Island, 295 S.C. 67, 69, 367 S.E.2d 160, 161 (1988) the South Carolina Supreme Court determined the permittee applicant was a necessary party. In Spanish Wells, the circuit court dismissed an appeal from a decision of the Hilton Head Island Planning Commission for failure to name the development permittee, but allowed the appellant fifteen days leave to add the permittee as a party. Instead, the appellant appealed the court's ruling that a development permittee is a necessary party. The Supreme Court, addressing only that issue, adopted the majority view that a development permittee is a necessary party to an appeal of its permit. Id. at 69, 367 S.E.2d at 161.

Problematically, there is no means by which the appellant can cure this issue. Respondent cannot amend their appeal as it is untimely and there is no procedure by which they can do so. Under Austin v. Board of Appeals, 362 S.C. 29, 38, 606 S.E. 2d 208, 214 (Ct. App. 2004), the court concluded the statute makes no provision for "amendment of the grounds set forth in the petition," nor is there any way for the Appellants to add the permittee applicant to the appeal. Id. at 37, 606 S.E.2d at 213.